S218497

No. S

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

CENTINELA FREEMAN EMERGENCY MEDICAL SUPREME COURT FILED ASSOCIATES, ET AL.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

MAY 1 3 2014

VS.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

HEALTH NET OF CALIFORNIA, INC., ET AL.,

Deputy

Defendants and Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

After An Opinion By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Three, No. B238867

Appeal From A Judgment Of Dismissal Following Demurrer Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC415203 Honorable John Shepard Wiley

Service on the Attorney General and the Los Angeles District Attorney Required by Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209 and Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.29(a) and (b)

INTRODUCTION

This petition presents an important issue affecting the health care industry and as to which the published Court of Appeal authorities have been in sharp conflict for a decade: whether a health care service plan owes a tort duty to reimburse non-contracted emergency physicians for services rendered to the plan's enrollees, when the plan has delegated its payment responsibilities to an independent physicians association, pursuant to statute, and the independent physicians association becomes financially insolvent. Although the Court of Appeal held that such a duty existed, it acknowledged:

In addressing this question, we are not writing on a clean slate. Two courts have addressed the question directly, reaching contradictory results. (Compare California Emergency Physicians Medical Group v. PacifiCare of California (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 1127, 1135-1136 (CEP) [finding no negligence cause of action] with Ochs v. PacifiCare of California (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 782, 796-797 (Ochs) [finding such a cause of action exists].)

(Opn. 17, attached hereto as Ex. A.)

This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict and provide clarity on a question that has wide-ranging implications for the California health care industry, including health plans, emergency and other physicians, and, most importantly, the health plan members that industry serves.

The Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975, Health and Safety Code § 1340 et seq. (the "Act") is a comprehensive statutory and regulatory scheme that is designed to ensure quality health care at low cost through a system of managed care and—a key component—delegated risk. Under that system, patients transfer the risk of health care costs to health care service plans, which may further transfer the risk to health care providers. The Act provides for the regulation of all entities in this delegated model to ensure their financial stability.

To these ends, Health and Safety Code section 1371.41 requires that health care service plans reimburse emergency care providers for services rendered to the plan's enrollees, even when the emergency care providers have no contracts with the health plan. It also provides, however, that health plans may delegate their reimbursement responsibilities to the plan's contracting medical providers, known as risk bearing organizations ("RBO") or independent physicians associations ("IPA"). Under the Act's implementing regulations, the Department of Managed Health Care ("DMHC") must monitor the financial solvency of health plans and

¹ All unspecified statutory references are to the Health and Safety Code.

IPAs and implement processes to rehabilitate financially troubled IPAs. The statute requires health plans to cooperate with the DMHC's rehabilitation processes.

In this case, plaintiffs are emergency room physicians who allegedly provided emergency services to enrollees of the Health Plans' delegated IPA, La Vida Medical Group, Inc., and with whom plaintiffs had no contracts. Plaintiffs allege that La Vida failed to reimburse them when it became insolvent several years after the delegation. Plaintiffs sued the Health Plans, alleging that they negligently delegated their reimbursement responsibilities to La Vida. Plaintiffs claim the Health Plans knew or should have known that La Vida would be unable, in the future, to meet its financial obligations to plaintiffs.

In a published decision, Division Three of the Second Appellate District held that neither section 1371.4's express authorization of delegation arrangements nor the comprehensive statutory scheme regulating the managed care system precludes imposing negligence liability on health plans arising from such delegations. Applying the factors in *Biakanja v. Irving* (1958) 49 Cal.2d 647 (*Biakanja*) for evaluating the existence of a tort duty involving economic relationships, the Court of Appeal concluded that the Health Plans could have a tort duty to plaintiffs if they knew or should have foreseen that the delegated IPA would not pay noncontracted emergency physicians. The Court of Appeal further held that a health plan's duty is a continuing one, such that, when a

health plan discovers that a contracted IPA is unable to meet its obligations, it must re-assume the obligation to reimburse non-contracted emergency physicians. In reaching these conclusions, the Court of Appeal expressly disagreed with *California Emergency Physicians Medical Group v. PacifiCare of California* (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 1127, 1131-1132 (*CEP*), a 2003 decision from Division One of the Fourth Appellate District, which held that a negligence claim in identical circumstances was barred as a matter of law by section 1371.4 and further held that *Biakanja* does not support a duty of care in such circumstances.

This case thus presents two clear grounds for review. First, the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with *CEP* on two issues: (1) whether section 1371.4's express authorization for a health plan to delegate its reimbursement obligations bars tort causes of action premised on allegedly improper or negligent delegations; and (2) whether *Biakanja* supports injecting a judicially created tort duty into this carefully calibrated statutory and regulatory scheme.

Second, the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with the statutory scheme governing the managed care system, closely overseen by the DMHC. A tort duty is not compatible with section 1371.4's express and unqualified authorization of delegation of the health plan's reimbursement obligations. Nor is it consistent with the purpose that statute serves in the delegated model of health care the Legislature has adopted. That model is anchored on the notion

that contracted IPAs, not health plans, retain post-delegation risk to reimburse providers.

The Court of Appeal's rewrite of the statute is stark because it implements a profound change in the Act that the Legislature proposed and *failed to enact* in 2001. The Legislature passed Senate Bill No. 117 in 2001 to add a new provision requiring health care service plans to pay emergency service providers if a contracting medical provider did not do so, but the Governor vetoed the bill. (*Ochs v. PacifiCare of California* (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 782, 791 (*Ochs*), citing Sen. Bill No. 117 (2000–2001 Reg. Sess.) § 2, subd. (f).) This demonstrates that the Legislature interpreted the current version of subdivision (e) as *not* requiring health plans to reassume payment obligations delegated to an IPA. The Court of Appeal's opinion therefore judicially enacts a new law that the Legislature expressly tried, but failed, to pass.

A tort duty also undermines the specific procedure established in the regulations to rehabilitate a failing IPA. When an IPA fails the financial grading criteria in the regulations, the health plans and the IPA are required by statute to cooperate with the DMHC to implement a "corrective action plan." The purpose of this mechanism is to ensure the stability of the managed care system and continuity of care for patients. If health plans are required to re-assume an IPA's reimbursement obligations, this would require an adjustment in the IPA's capitation payments, which would hurt the IPA's cash flow and exacerbate its financial condition,

decreasing the likelihood that the corrective action plan will succeed in rehabilitating that IPA. An IPA's collapse would not only undermine the DMHC's efforts, it also would have severe consequences for the IPA's contracted emergency and non-emergency physicians as well as enrollees by disrupting the quality and continuity of care.

The Court of Appeal's holding also is at odds with the comprehensive statutory system governing health plans and IPAs as well as the DMHC's role in administering that system. Whether a health plan may re-assume reimbursement responsibilities when a contracted IPA is undergoing a corrective action plan is an issue the regulations place within the purview of the DMHC. To inject a judicially created tort duty into this comprehensive scheme could disturb the risk spreading balance the Legislature struck when it expressly approved the delegation of reimbursement responsibilities, authorized the DMHC to administer that system, and established the corrective action processes. Such complex economic policy choices should be left to the Legislature, and the courts should abstain from creating new tort duties in this arena.

Finally, regardless of which of the currently conflicting court of appeal decisions is correct, all participants in the health care industry have a pressing need for this Court to settle the question so they can order their affairs accordingly. The contractual delegation of risk is a core feature of the Knox-Keene statutory system, and a wide variety of contractual relationships are established based on

assumptions of which risks are borne by which entities. The holding here—that a risk delegation that was fully authorized by statute at the time of contracting may be disturbed based on retrospectively applied negligence principles—injects uncertainty and unpredictability into a regime that demands both. This Court should settle the rules so all participants may follow them.

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Whether a health care service plan's delegation of its reimbursement obligations to an independent physicians association in accordance with Health and Safety Code section 1371.4 precludes imposition of tort liability on the health care service plan to reimburse non-contracted emergency physicians based on such delegation?
- (2) Where a health care service plan delegated its reimbursement responsibilities to a financially solvent independent physicians association pursuant to section 1371.4, and the independent physicians association later becomes insolvent and fails to pay non-contracted emergency physicians for services rendered to health care service plan enrollees, may the health care service plan be liable in negligence to the non-contracted emergency physicians?

III.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. Background Regarding The Governing Law

"All aspects of the regulation of health plans are covered" by the Knox-Keene Act, "including financial stability, organization, advertising and capability to provide health services." (Van de Kamp v. Gumbiner (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 1260, 1269; see § 1340.) Among the Act's goals are "[h]elping to ensure the best possible health care for the public at the lowest possible cost by transferring the financial risk of health care from patients to providers" and "[e]nsuring the financial stability" of health plans "by means of proper regulatory procedures." (§ 1342, subds. (d) & (f).)

1. The Legislature Has Specifically Approved Risk-Shifting Arrangements

Through the Act, the Legislature has adopted the delegated model of health care, approving risk-shifting arrangements between health plans and IPAs. (*California Medical Assn., Inc. v. Aetna U.S. Healthcare of California, Inc.* (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 151, 162.)² "Similarly, administrative regulations contemplate the

² Respondents Health Net of California, Inc., Blue Cross of California dba Anthem Blue Cross, PacifiCare of California, California Physicians' Service dba Blue Shield of California, Cigna HealthCare of California, Inc., Aetna Health of California, Inc., and SCAN Health Plan, are health care service plans within the meaning of section 1345, subd. (f)(1). In this brief, respondents are referred

contractual shifting of financial risk from health plans to other risk-bearing entities." (*Ibid.*) Section 1348.6 expressly permits "capitation payments, or shared-risk arrangements." (§ 1348.6, subd. (b).)

A health plan thus may contract with an IPA to delegate reimbursement obligations. (§ 1375.4, subd. (g)(1).) ³ The IPA is a group of physicians that contracts with a health plan to provide services for the plan's enrollees on a "capitated" basis, that is, a fixed payment per enrollee. (*Ibid.*) The IPA is responsible for processing and paying claims for services physicians render to enrollees. (*Id.* at subd. (g)(1)(C).) The DMHC's website has a list of IPAs that are financially solvent and that meet the DMHC's financial grading criteria. La Vida was on that list when the Health Plans entered into their delegation contracts with it. (Dept. of Managed Healthcare, Healthcare Providers Information regarding

to as "Health Plans" for convenience. Although a "health maintenance organization" (HMO) technically is a type of health care service plan, the Court of Appeal's opinion uses "HMO" generically to refer to the Health Plans.

³ A "risk-bearing organization" is "a professional medical corporation" or an "organized group of physicians" that provides health care services and that: "(A) Contracts directly with a health care service plan or arranges for health care services for the health care service plan's enrollees. [¶] (B) Receives compensation for those services on any capitated or fixed periodic payment basis. [¶] (C) Is responsible for the processing and payment of claims made by providers for services rendered by those providers on behalf of a health care service plan that are covered under the capitation or fixed periodic payment made by the plan to the risk-bearing organization." (§ 1375.4, subd. (g)(1)(A)-(C).) An IPA is a type of risk bearing organization.

Risk Bearing Organizations (May 13, 2010), http://www.hmohelp.ca.gov/providers/rbo/rbo_cap.aspx; Opn. 12.)

2. The Legislature Has Charged The DMHC With Monitoring The Financial Stability Of IPAs And Implementing The Process To Rehabilitate Financially Troubled IPAs

IPAs are subject to financial condition requirements. (§ 1375.1, subds. (b)(1) & (b)(3) [in determining whether a health plan is financially sound, the DMHC considers the "financial soundness of the plan's arrangements for health care services" and its agreements with providers].) The Act imposes specific requirements on any contract between a health plan and an IPA, including a contractual provision requiring the IPA to provide regular financial information to the health plan to "assist the [health plan] in maintaining the financial viability of its arrangements for the provision of health care services. . . ." (§ 1375.4, subd. (a)(1).)

There are financial criteria every IPA must meet on a regular basis. (§ 1375.4, subd. (b)(1)(A).) Should the IPA fail those requirements, the IPA and the health plans with which it contracts must agree to a "corrective action plan," approved by the DMHC, designed to bring the IPA back into compliance and restore its financial health. (*Id.* at subd. (b)(4).) Specifically, when an IPA has reported any deficiencies in meeting the financial grading criteria, it "shall simultaneously submit a self-initiated" corrective action proposal. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 28, § 1300.75.4.8,

subd. (a).) At that point, the DMHC assumes control of the IPA's rehabilitation, including its risk-shifting arrangements with its contracting health plans. Health plans are required to cooperate with the DMHC with respect to corrective action plans. Health plans are further required to take "appropriate action(s)... following the Department's written notification to" a health plan that an IPA has failed with respect to its duties to report financial information, to cooperate with the DMHC, or to comply with a corrective action plan. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 28, § 1300.75.4.5, subd. (a)(2), italics added.) "[A]ppropriate action shall include . . . a prohibition on the assignment or addition of any additional enrollees to the risk arrangement with that organization[,] without the prior written approval of the DMHC. (Id. at subd. (a)(3).) The regulations also prohibit health plans from transferring existing enrollees out of an IPA that is subject to a corrective action plan without DMHC approval. (See id. at subds. (a)(6) & (a)(7).)

3. The Legislature Has Specifically Approved Delegation Of Payment Responsibilities For Emergency Services

Section 1371.4 governs health plans' obligations with respect to emergency services and care. Subdivision (b) requires a health plan "or its contracting medical providers" to pay for emergency care rendered to their enrollees regardless of whether the emergency care provider is under contract with the plan. (§ 1371.4, subd. (b).) Section 1371.4 expressly permits health plans to

delegate payment responsibilities for emergency services and care to IPAs. (*Id.* at subd. (e).)

B. The Allegations Of Plaintiffs' Complaints⁴

Plaintiffs allege that they provided emergency services to La Vida enrollees and sought reimbursement from La Vida. Beginning in 2007, La Vida allegedly failed to pay plaintiffs for those services. (Opn. 10; 1 AA 41, 64.) Plaintiffs do not allege that La Vida was not listed on the DMHC's list of financially solvent IPAs at the time of the initial delegations, that the Health Plans failed to pay La Vida under the capitation agreements with La Vida, or that the Health Plans violated any statute or regulation in entering into the delegation contracts with La Vida. (Opn. 10-11; 1 AA 43, 64-65.)

Plaintiffs allege that, at the time the Health Plans delegated their responsibilities to La Vida and throughout the duration of those contracts, the Health Plans knew or should have known that La Vida would be unable to meet its obligations in the future. (Opn. 10.) Plaintiffs do not allege that La Vida operated in violation of the statutorily required corrective action plan when it

⁴ The factual and procedural information recited in subsections B, C and D is taken largely from the Court of Appeal's opinion. To the extent certain facts are not contained in the Court of Appeal's opinion, they were brought to the Court of Appeal's attention in the Health Plans' petition for rehearing ("PFR"). (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2).)

began experiencing financial problems. Nor do they allege that the DMHC had requested or authorized a re-assumption of payment responsibilities by the Health Plans. Plaintiffs allege that after La Vida's lender filed bankruptcy in October 2009 and withdrew \$4 million from La Vida's account, La Vida failed. (PFR 8; 1 AA 42.)

Plaintiffs allege causes of action for negligence, unfair competition, quantum meruit, open book account, and services rendered. (Opn. 11.)

The trial court sustained the Health Plans' demurrers without leave to amend and entered judgment for the Health Plans. (Opn. 14-15.) Plaintiffs appealed. (Opn. 15.)

C. The Court of Appeal's Opinion

The Health Plans advanced three primary arguments on appeal. They argued that section 1371.4's express authorization of delegation contracts precludes liability on all of plaintiffs' causes of action as a matter of law. The Health Plans further argued that the *Biakanja* factors do not support imposition of a negligence duty because (1) the delegation contracts were not intended specifically to affect plaintiffs; (2) plaintiffs' alleged injury was not reasonably foreseeable since La Vida was solvent at the time of the delegation contracts, was operating under a corrective action plan after its financial problems began, and did not fail until its lender went

bankrupt; (3) the connection between the delegations and plaintiffs' injury was remote; and (4) the Health Plans are not morally culpable because their delegations were statutorily permitted and plaintiffs' injury was not reasonably foreseeable. The Health Plans further argued that the comprehensive regulatory scheme governing health plans and IPAs warrants judicial abstention.

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