No. S218497

SUPREME COURT FILED

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

JUN 3 - 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

CENTINELA FREEMAN EMERGENCY MEDICAL ASSOCIATION, ET AL.

Deputy

Plaintiffs and Appellants

VS.

HEALTH NET OF CALIFORNIA, INC., ET AL.,

Defendants and Respondents

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

After An Opinion By The Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Three, No. B238867

Service on Attorney General and the Los Angeles District Attorney Required by Bus. & Prof. Code § 17209 and Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.29(a) and (b)

MICHELMAN & ROBINSON, LLP

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

ARGUMENT AGAINST SUPREME COURT REVIEW

I. CONTROLLING APPELLATE AUTHORITY DOES NOT CONFLICT.

The Plans argue that this Court must resolve a conflict between *CEP* and *Ochs v. PacifiCare of California* (2004) 115 Cal.App.4th 782 ("*Ochs*"). (Petition ("Pet.") 1-2, 21-26.) Like the plaintiffs/respondents in this case, the *CEP* and *Ochs* plaintiffs were non-contracted emergency physicians not paid by insolvent IPAs. The *Ochs* court permitted the non-contracted emergency physician in that case to amend his complaint to allege a cause of action for the plan's negligent delegation of its compensation obligation to a financially unsound IPA. (*Ochs*, *supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at pp. 796-797.) By contrast, the *CEP* court disallowed a negligence cause of

action. (*CEP*, *supra*, 111 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1135-1136.) However, these decisions are not contradictory, because subsequent case law diminishes *CEP*'s precedential effect, and because *Ochs* and *CEP* decided different types of negligence claims. Therefore, no cognizable conflict exists.

A. <u>Subsequent Case Law has Eroded CEP's</u> Precedential Value.

CEP was published in 2003. (CEP, supra, 111 Cal.App.4th at p. 1127.) When the CEP court decided that non-contracted emergency physicians may not sue plans to recover compensation that should have been paid by IPAs, emergency physicians were permitted to bill their patients for the difference between the amounts paid by the IPAs and the amounts the physicians had billed – a practice commonly called "balance billing."⁵

The *CEP* plaintiffs sought compensation from the plans pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 1317.4 and also alleged causes of action for unfair competition (Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200), implied contract, negligence, quantum meruit, and third party beneficiary of a contract. The *CEP* court systematically and specifically denied recovery under each of these theories (*CEP*, *supra*, 111 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1131-1138) – in an apparent attempt to categorically bar physicians from suing plans for compensation

Indeed, the *Ochs* opinion, issued approximately six months after *CEP*, observed that under then-current law, the emergency physician plaintiff "may have [had] a remedy against the individual patients, and those patients a remedy against [the plan]." (*Ochs*, *supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at p. 782, 796.)

that should have been paid by IPAs. However, *CEP* did not foreclose balance billing and thus left the unpaid emergency physicians with an avenue of recovery.

The Ochs plaintiff also asserted multiple theories of recovery violations of the Knox-Keene Act, unfair business practices (Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200), negligence, declaratory and injunctive relief, quantum meruit, and third-party beneficiary of contract. (Ochs, supra, 115 Cal.App.4th at p. 788.) Like the CEP court, the Ochs court specifically denied recovery on each of the theories pleaded. (Id. at pp. 789-796.) However, the Ochs court also held that the emergency physician plaintiff had the right to assert a cause of action for the plan's negligent delegation of its compensation obligation to an IPA that the plan knew or should have known was financially unsound, and that the trial court erred in denying leave to amend to allege a negligent delegation cause of action. (Id. at p. 797.) Thus, to the extent CEP could have been read to ban all superior court lawsuits by non-contracted emergency physicians to recover compensation from plans, Ochs began the erosion of CEP's precedential effect.

In 2005 (more than two years after CEP), the Court of Appeal decided *Bell v. Blue Cross of California* (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 211 ("*Bell*"). In contrast to the *CEP* and *Ochs* plaintiffs who had not been paid at all for their services by the Plans, the *Bell* plaintiffs were non-contracted emergency physicians who contended that the amounts the plan paid to them were unreasonably low. (*Id.* at p. 214.) Like the *CEP* plaintiffs, the *Bell* plaintiffs alleged several causes of action – i.e., for declaratory and injunctive relief, violations of Business and Professions Code section 17200, and quantum meruit. (*Id.*)

However, unlike in *CEP*, the *Bell* court held that the plaintiffs had standing to pursue court actions against the plan and held that the plaintiffs could proceed with all of the causes of action advanced by them. (*Id.* at p. 221.) Thus, to the extent *CEP* could have been read to ban all superior court lawsuits by non-contracted Emergency Physicians to recover compensation from plans, *Bell* continued the erosion of *CEP*'s precedential effect.

Approximately six years after *CEP*, the California Supreme Court decided *Prospect Medical Group*, *Inc. v. Northridge Emergency Medical Group* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 497. The *Prospect* court observed: "Because emergency room doctors prevailed in *Bell* [citation] and won the right to resolve their disputes directly with HMO's, no reason exists to permit balance billing." (*Id.* at p. 508.) Accordingly, *Prospect* eliminated balance billing. (*Id.* at pp. 508-509.) Thus, the compensation landscape for non-contracted emergency physicians was dramatically different when *CEP* was decided in 2003 (when these physicians were allowed to balance bill) and after *Prospect* was decided in 2009 (when balance billing ceased).⁶

The Court of Appeal below acknowledged the *Prospect* opinion's footnote 5, which states that the *Prospect* holding is "limited to the precise situation before us – billing the patient for emergency services when the doctors have recourse against the patient's HMO. We express no opinion regarding the situation when no such recourse is available; for example, if the HMO is unable to pay or disputes coverage." (*Prospect*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 507, fn. 5.) The Court of Appeal then opined that if the California Supreme Court had been required to decide whether non-contracted emergency physicians not paid by IPAs could continue to balance bill, the Supreme Court would have disallowed balance billing for these physicians as well. (Opn. 26-27, 41, fn. 38.)

The combined effect of *Ochs* and *Bell* allowing non-contracted emergency physicians to pursue compensation claims against plans in civil courts and *Prospect*'s elimination of balance billing diminishes, if not eliminates, *CEP*'s value as judicial precedent. "The authority of an older case may be as effectively dissipated by a later trend of decision as by a statement expressly overruling it.' [Citation.]" (*Frisk v. Superior Ct.* (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 402, 411.) In colloquial terms, if *CEP* is still alive, it is taking its final quiet breaths. Therefore, there is no significant precedential conflict between *CEP* and this case; and therefore no conflict in appellate authority warranting this Court's review.

B. Because CEP Neither Addressed Nor

Decided the Existence or Absence of

Specific Duty Found in Centinela, CEP

Cannot Conflict with Centinela.

A case is not authority for a proposition not actually considered and decided. (*City of Clovis v. County of Fresno* (2014) 222 Cal.App.4th 1469, 1479.) Contrary to Respondents' argument, *CEP* did not consider or decide whether non-contracted emergency physicians may have a cause of action for a plan's negligent delegation of its payment responsibility to an IPA or whether the duty to avoid negligent delegation is a continuing duty. Therefore, *CEP* does not control the issue decided by the Court of Appeal below and does not conflict with the *Centinela* Decision.

The *CEP* emergency physicians asserted a negligence cause of action against the plans, alleging that the plans had a duty to "use

due care so as not to cause harm to [Emergency Physicians'] financial interest. . . ." (CEP, supra, 111 Cal.App.4th at p. 1135 (brackets and ellipses by court).) The CEP court declined to find such a duty on the grounds that businesses generally have no duty to manage their affairs so as to prevent economic injury to third parties, and because the Legislature has approved risk sharing arrangements. (Id. at p. 1136.)

By contrast, the Emergency Physicians in this case do not allege that the Plans owed them a broad duty to look after their financial interests generally. Instead, the duty the Emergency Physicians allege in this case is a Plan's continuing duty to avoid and/or reverse delegation of its compensation obligation to an IPA that the plans knew or should have known is financially unsound. This duty is much narrower and more specific than the duty alleged in *CEP*.⁷

Thus, the *Centinela* and *CEP* courts decided the existence/absence of different duties. The fact that the *CEP* court found no duty in that case does not conflict with the Court of Appeal's finding of a duty in this case. Accordingly, even if *Prospect* had not diminished the precedential value of *CEP*, no conflict between *CEP* and this case would exist.

⁷ The *Ochs* opinion confirms that the viability of negligence claims is evaluated according to the specific duties claimed rather than according to a one-size-fits-all standard. The *Ochs* court held that the plaintiff's cause of action for negligence based on the plan's alleged duty to pay for emergency services was subject to demurrer (*Id.* at p. 794), but that a cause of action for negligence based on the plan's pre-delegation duty to ascertain the financial soundness of the delegatee IPA could proceed (*Id.* at p. 797).

II. THE PLANS' CONTENTION THAT THE CENTINELA

DECISION UNDERMINES CALIFORNIA'S ENTIRE

MANAGED HEALTHCARE SYSTEM IS A RED HERRING

THAT DOES NOT SUPPORT SUPREME COURT REVIEW.

The medical providers affected by the Decision – emergency care providers who have no contracts with plans or IPAs -- constitute a very narrow slice of the managed-care-provider pie. The Plans' insinuation that allowing this relatively small group to pursue a civil action for compensation will destabilize California's entire managed care system is alarmist at best, and an attempt to distort at worst.

While the Plans argue that, without a review of *Centinela*, the sky will fall on California's managed care system, the reality is that *Centinela* actually strengthens it. A financially strong IPA is in everyone's best interests – the patients, the providers, and the plans. With plans responsible for monitoring their delegated entities, and being held liable if they fail to ensure that IPAs fulfill their obligations in this narrow case, the potential IPA financial meltdown decreases significantly.

Moreover, the Plans support their end-of-managed care contention with arguments that were not raised previously, and are unsupported, by the record. For example, the Plans argue that "a health plan that re-assumes payments from an IPA will have to adjust its capitation payments to that IPA accordingly," and that "some IPAs that might have emerged intact from a corrective action plan may go under because of the decrease in capitation payments." (Pet. 31.) This argument does not support this Court's review

because (1) the argument is entirely speculative, and (2) the Court of Appeal did not have the opportunity to consider it.

The Plans also argue for the first time in their petition that allowing non-contracted Emergency Physicians to sue Plans for compensation when failed IPAs cannot pay "elevat[es] the emergency physicians' interests above the interest of contracted physicians of all specialties," and "creates a perverse economic incentive for emergency physicians to avoid contracted arrangements and penalizes those doctors who have entered into such arrangements." (Pet. 32.) Again, this argument does not support a grant of review because it makes numerous assumptions for which there is no record. The argument assumes that emergency physicians have the opportunity to contract fairly with IPAs, noncontracted arrangements are more lucrative than contracted arrangements, and that non-contracted physicians would prefer to sue for their compensation rather than receive payments pursuant to a binding contract. This and other unsupported arguments do not support Supreme Court review.

- III. BECAUSE EXISTING CASE LAW DEFEATS THE PLANS'
 ARGUMENT THAT A RIGHT TO SUE FOR NEGLIGENT
 DELEGATION IS INCONSISTENT WITH MANAGED
 HEALTH CARE'S STATUTORY SCHEME, SUCH
 PURPORTED INCONSISTENCY DOES NOT WARRANT
 THIS COURT'S REVIEW.
 - A. Existing Case Law Establishes NonContracted Emergency Physicians' Right to
 Pursue Court Actions for Compensation.

The Plans' petition argues that the negligent delegation cause of action permitted by *Centinela* is inconsistent with Health and Safety Code section 1371.4, subdivision (e) (the statute permitting plans' delegation of their obligations to pay emergency physicians to IPAs), with the Knox-Keene Act as a whole, and with the "comprehensive statutory system" governing managed health care. (Pet. 26-36.) Existing law has already invalidated these arguments.

First and fundamentally, the Knox-Keene Act specifically contemplates that the Department of Managed Health Care ("DMHC") will resolve many – but not all – issues arising under this statutory scheme:

A plan, any entity contracting with a plan, and providers are each responsible for their own acts or omissions, and are not liable for the acts or omissions of, or the costs of defending, others. Any provision to the contrary in a contract with a provider is void and unenforceable. Nothing in this section shall preclude a finding of liability on the part of a plan, an entity

contracting with a plan, or a provider, <u>based on the</u> <u>doctrines of equitable indemnity, comparative</u> <u>negligence, contribution, or other statutory or common law bases for liability</u>.

(Health & Safety Code § 1371.25 (emphasis added).)

Additionally, even *CEP* -- the case finding no viable private right of action among the several causes of action alleged therein – recognizes that emergency physicians have access to courts for the purpose of securing their earned compensation. The *CEP* court observed that "the Knox-Keene Act itself contemplates that a health care plan may be held liable under theories based on other law." (*CEP*, *supra*, 111 Cal.App.4th at p. 1134 (quoting *Coast Plaza Doctors Hospital v. UHP Healthcare* (2002) 105 Cal.App.4th 693, 702).)

In 2004, *Ochs* contradicted the Plans' arguments in this case by implication in holding that the non-contracted emergency physician plaintiff in that case had the right to prove that the plan negligently delegated its payment responsibilities to an IPA that the plan knew or should have known was financially unsound. (*Ochs*, *supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at pp. 782, 797.) However, the *Ochs* court did not expressly address the compatibility of a negligent delegation cause of action with a specific statute or a statutory scheme.⁸

⁸ It appears from the *Ochs* decision that the plan in that case opposed the viability of this cause of action on the ground that a negligent delegation cause of action would require a showing that the allegedly negligent conduct was intended to affect Dr. Ochs specifically (as opposed to the class of emergency physicians who treated the plan's enrollees). The *Ochs* court rejected this argument on the ground that negligence liability may be imposed when a duty (Footnote continued on next page.)

In 2005, *Bell*, *supra*, confirmed the compatibility of non-contracted emergency physicians' civil causes of action against plans for compensation and the statutes governing managed care in California. In contrast to *Ochs*, *Bell* specifically addresses and explains the compatibility. *Bell* holds that the DMHC does not have exclusive jurisdiction over non-contracted emergency physicians' compensation levels and that these physicians are "free to pursue alternate theories to recover the reasonable value of [their] services" in civil courts. (*Bell*, *supra*, 131 Cal.App.4th at p. 215.) The *Bell* court did not fabricate these conclusions out of proverbial whole cloth, but instead based them on Health and Safety Code statutes and the DMHC's position on the issue.

Bell relied in part on Health and Safety Code section 1731.4, subdivision (b) (id. at p. 216) which provides in relevant part: "A health care service plan, or its contracting medical providers, shall reimburse providers for emergency services and care provided to its enrollees, until the care results in stabilization of the enrollee[.]" The Bell court held:

Subdivision (b) of section 1371.4 was enacted in 1994 to impose a mandatory duty upon health care plans to reimburse non-contracting providers for emergency medical services. [Citations.] Although the [DMHC] has jurisdiction over the subject matter of section 1371.4 (as well as the rest of the Knox-Keene Act), its jurisdiction is not exclusive and there is nothing in section 1371.4 or in the Act generally to preclude a

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